

## LEGISLATIVE BILL 574

Approved by the Governor March 28, 2001

Introduced by Transportation and Telecommunications Committee:

Bromm, 23, Chairperson; Brown, 6; Hudkins, 21; Jones, 43;  
Dw. Pedersen, 39; Robak, 22

AN ACT relating to motor vehicles; to amend sections 60-462, 60-479, 60-489, 60-4,117, 60-4,120, 60-4,124, 60-4,126, 60-4,142, 60-4,150, 60-4,151, 60-4,180, 60-1515, and 60-2912, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, and sections 60-484, 60-490, 60-494, 60-4,113, 60-4,114, 60-4,115, 60-4,119, 60-4,120.01, 60-4,122, 60-4,123, 60-4,127, 60-4,130, 60-4,130.02, 60-4,148, 60-4,171, 60-4,181, and 60-2904, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000; to provide for the implementation of a digital system for issuance of motor vehicle operators' licenses and state identification cards; to change provisions relating to issuance and expiration of motor vehicle operators' licenses and state identification cards; to change fees; to provide penalties; to harmonize provisions; and to repeal the original sections.

Be it enacted by the people of the State of Nebraska,

Section 1. Section 60-462, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, is amended to read:

60-462. Sections 60-462 to 60-4,188 and sections 3, 4, and 30 of this act shall be known and may be cited as the Motor Vehicle Operator's License Act.

Sec. 2. Section 60-479, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, is amended to read:

60-479. Sections 60-480 to 60-4,111, ~~60-4,164.01,~~ and 60-4,182 to 60-4,188 and sections 3, 4, and 30 of this act shall apply to any operator's license issued pursuant to the Motor Vehicle Operator's License Act.

Sec. 3. It is the intent of the Legislature to authorize the Department of Motor Vehicles to begin issuing operator's licenses and state identification cards using digital images and digital signatures and to allow for electronic renewal of certain operator's licenses and state identification cards. The department shall implement such a digital system no later than July 1, 2004. The director shall designate the date for the implementation of the digital system and the corresponding change in fees as prescribed in section 60-4,115.

Sec. 4. (1) Each applicant for an operator's license or state identification card shall have his or her photograph taken or, beginning on the implementation date designated pursuant to section 3 of this act, have his or her digital image taken. Digital images shall be preserved for use as prescribed in sections 60-4,119, 60-4,151, and 60-4,180. The images shall be used for issuing operators' licenses and state identification cards. The images may be retrieved only by the Department of Motor Vehicles for issuing renewal, duplicate, and replacement operators' licenses and state identification cards and may not be otherwise released except in accordance with subsection (3) of this section.

(2) Upon application for an operator's license or state identification card, each applicant shall provide his or her signature in a form prescribed by the department. Beginning on the implementation date designated pursuant to section 3 of this act, digital signatures shall be preserved for use on original, renewal, duplicate, and replacement operators' licenses and state identification cards and may not be otherwise released except in accordance with subsection (3) of this section.

(3) No officer, employee, agent, or contractor of the department or a law enforcement officer shall release a digital image or a digital signature except to a federal, state, or local law enforcement agency for the purpose of carrying out the functions of the agency upon the verification of the identity of the person requesting the release of the information and the verification of the purpose of the requester in requesting the release. Any officer, employee, agent, or contractor of the department or law enforcement officer that knowingly discloses or knowingly permits disclosure of a digital image or digital signature in violation of this section shall be guilty of a Class IV felony and shall be subject to removal from office or discharge in the discretion of the Governor or agency head, as appropriate.

Sec. 5. Section 60-484, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-484. (1) Except as otherwise provided in the Motor Vehicle Operator's License Act, no resident of the State of Nebraska shall operate a motor vehicle upon the alleys or highways of the State of Nebraska until the person has obtained an operator's license for that purpose.

(2) Application for an operator's license may be made on uniform blanks prepared and furnished by the director to the county treasurers and the examiners of the Department of Motor Vehicles prior to January 1, 2003. Such application may be made to an examiner in any county. The standard application blanks shall be sufficient in form and content to substantially carry out the purposes of the act.

(3) Beginning October 1, 2000, application for an operator's license may also be made in a manner prescribed by the department. Such application may be made to an examiner in any county. The examiner shall personally conduct the examination of the applicant and deliver to each successful applicant an examiner's certificate containing the statements made pursuant to subsection (4) of this section.

(4) In addition to any other information and questions necessary to comply with the requirements and purposes of the act, the applicant (a) shall provide his or her name, age, post office address, place of residence, date of birth, sex, social security number, and brief description of himself or herself, (b) may complete the voter registration portion pursuant to section 32-308, (c) shall be provided the advisement language required by subsection (10) of section 60-6,197, (d) shall answer the following:

(i) Have you within the last three months (e.g. due to diabetes, epilepsy, mental illness, head injury, stroke, heart condition, neurological disease, etc.):

- (A) lost voluntary control or consciousness ... yes ... no
- (B) experienced vertigo or multiple episodes of dizziness or fainting ... yes ... no
- (C) experienced disorientation ... yes ... no
- (D) experienced seizures ... yes ... no
- (E) experienced impairment of memory, memory loss ... yes ... no

Please explain: .....

(ii) Do you experience any condition which affects your ability to operate a motor vehicle? (e.g. due to loss of, or impairment of, foot, leg, hand, arm; neurological or neuromuscular disease, etc.) ... yes ... no

Please explain: .....

(iii) Since the issuance of your last driver's license/permit has your health or medical condition changed or worsened? ... yes ... no

Please explain, including how the above affects your ability to drive: ....., and (e) may answer the following:

(i) Do you wish to register to vote as part of this application process?

OPTIONAL - YOU ARE NOT REQUIRED TO ANSWER ANY OF THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS:

(ii) Do you wish to make an anatomical gift?\*

If yes:

- (A) ..... any needed organs or tissues
- (B) ..... only the following organs or tissues
- .....
- (C) ..... my body for anatomical study, if needed.\*\*

Limitations or special wishes if any .....

(iii) Do you wish to receive any additional specific information regarding anatomical gifts?

\*An anatomical gift means a gift of all or any part of your body for transplantation, therapy, or medical or dental education or research. For purposes of an anatomical gift, parts of your body include organs, tissues, eyes, bones, arteries, blood, other fluids, and other portions of a human body. You may make an anatomical gift if you are of sound mind. The anatomical gift is effective upon your death and the consent of your next of kin, guardian, or other person as listed in section 71-4802.

\*\*In order for you to donate your body to the State Anatomical Board, you must complete a bequeathal form which is available from the board.

.....	.....	.....	.....
Signature of Donor	Date of Birth	Date of Birth	Date Signed
.....	.....	.....	.....
City and State	Witness	Witness	Witness

(iv) Do you wish to donate \$1 to promote the Organ and Tissue Donor Awareness and Education Fund? This is strictly a voluntary contribution.

If you answer "YES", you may pay the dollar in cash or simply add it to your license fee payment. Funds collected will be used for statewide public information programs on organ and tissue donation.

(5) Application for an operator's license shall be made under oath or affirmation of the applicant.

(6) The social security number shall not be printed on the operator's license and shall be used only (a) to furnish driver record information to the United States Selective Service System under section 60-483, (b) with the permission of the director in connection with the verification of the status of an individual's driving record in this state or any other state, or (c) for purposes of child support enforcement pursuant to section 42-358.08 or 43-512.06.

(7)(a) Except for an individual under the age of eighteen years, each individual applying for an operator's license or a state identification card shall furnish proof of date of birth and identity by a valid Nebraska operator's license, a valid Nebraska learner's permit, a valid Nebraska school permit, a valid operator's license from another state or jurisdiction of the United States, a certified birth certificate, a certified birth registration, a valid United States passport, a valid United States military identification card, United States military discharge papers, ~~or~~ other United States-based identification as approved by the director, or information preserved in the digital system implemented under section 3 of this act.

(b) Any individual under the age of eighteen years applying for an operator's license or a state identification card shall provide a certified copy of his or her birth certificate, a certified birth registration, or other reliable proof of his or her identity and age accompanied by an affidavit signed by a parent or guardian explaining the inability to produce a copy of such birth certificate. The applicant may be required to furnish proof to the examiner that the parent or guardian signing any written information is in fact the parent or guardian of such applicant.

Sec. 6. Section 60-489, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, is amended to read:

60-489. ~~Every person licensed to operate motor vehicles under the Motor Vehicle Operator's License Act shall, upon receipt of the operator's license, endorse his or her signature thereon in a space provided for such purpose, and no license shall be valid until it is so endorsed.~~ Except for a farm permit issued under section 60-4,126, the operator's license shall at all times be carried by the licensee when operating a motor vehicle on the highways of this state and shall be presented by the licensee for examination, or he or she shall present proof of ownership of the same, upon demand by any officer, employee, or agent of the Nebraska State Patrol or police or peace officer recognized as such by the laws of this state. Such officer, employee, or agent shall, in every case of making demand on the motor vehicle operator to show an operator's license, first display proper evidence of his or her lawful authority to act as an officer of the law. Except as provided in section 29-215, no officer, except an officer, agent, or employee of the Nebraska State Patrol, the Superintendent of Law Enforcement and Public Safety, the county sheriff, or their authorized deputies or subordinates, shall exercise the authority to demand presentation of an operator's license outside the boundaries of any incorporated cities and villages. A farm permit issued under section 60-4,126 need not be carried on the person but shall be produced for examination within twenty-four hours after a lawful demand therefor has been made under this section.

Sec. 7. Section 60-490, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-490. (1) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (2) or (6) of this section and except for operators' licenses issued to persons less than twenty-one years of age, all operators' licenses issued pursuant to the Motor Vehicle Operator's License Act prior to January 1, 1999, expire on the licensee's birthday in the first year after issuance in which his or her age is divisible by four. An operator's license issued to a person who is less than twenty-one years of age expires on his or her twenty-first birthday.

(2) Operators' licenses issued to persons required to use bioptic or telescopic lenses as provided in section 60-4,118 shall expire annually on the licensee's birthday.

(3) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (6) of this section and except for state identification cards issued to persons less than twenty-one years of age, all state identification cards issued on or after January 1, 1990, and prior to January 1, 1999, expire on the cardholder's birthday in the first year after issuance in which his or her age is divisible by four. Except for state identification cards issued to persons less than twenty-one years of age, all state identification cards issued on or after January 1, 1999, expire on the cardholder's birthday in the fifth year after issuance. A state identification card issued to a person who is less than twenty-one years of age expires on his or her twenty-first birthday, except

that beginning on the implementation date designated pursuant to section 3 of this act, a state identification card issued to a person who is less than twenty-one years of age expires on his or her twenty-first birthday or on his or her birthday in the fifth year after issuance, whichever comes first.

(4) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (2) of this section and except for operators' licenses issued to persons less than twenty-one years of age, operators' licenses issued pursuant to the Motor Vehicle Operator's License Act on or after January 1, 1999, expire on the licensee's birthday in the fifth year after issuance. An operator's license issued to a person less than twenty-one years of age expires on his or her twenty-first birthday. Beginning December 1, 2003, the Department of Motor Vehicles shall mail out a renewal notice for each operator's license at least thirty days before the expiration of the operator's license.

(5)(a) The expiration date shall be stated on each operator's license or state identification card.

(b) All licenses and cards issued to persons who are twenty-one years of age or older which expire under this section may be renewed within a ninety-day period before the expiration date. Any person who is twenty-one years of age or older and who is the holder of a valid operator's license or state identification card may renew his or her license or card prior to the ninety-day period before the expiration date on such license or card if such applicant furnishes proof that he or she will be absent from the state during the ninety-day period prior to such expiration date.

(c) A person who is twenty years of age may apply for an operator's license or a state identification card within sixty days prior to his or her twenty-first birthday. The operator's license or state identification card may be issued within ten days prior to such birthday.

(d) A person who is under twenty years of age and who holds a state identification card may apply for renewal within a ninety-day period prior to the expiration date.

(6) In order to ease the transition to a system of five-year operators' licenses and five-year state identification cards, approximately twenty percent of the number of persons in each county whose operators' licenses or state identification cards expire in the years 1999, 2000, 2001, and 2002 shall have the expiration date of their operators' licenses or state identification cards extended to the year 2003. Such persons shall be chosen at random from a list of persons who are less than sixty-five years of age. Extension stickers for the operators' licenses or state identification cards of such persons shall be designed by the department. Beginning August 1, 1998, the department shall provide notice to and mail out or make available through the examiners of the department the extension stickers to the persons who have had the expiration date of their licenses or cards extended. The fee for each Class O or Class M operator's license or identification card extension sticker shall be three dollars and seventy-five cents per year of extension and the fee for each commercial driver's license extension sticker shall be ten dollars per year of extension. The fee shall be collected by the department and remitted to the State Treasurer. Eight dollars and twenty-five cents of each four-year extension fee, six dollars of each three-year extension fee, three dollars and twenty-five cents of each two-year extension fee, and one dollar of each one-year extension fee shall be credited to the General Fund. All remaining fees shall be credited to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund. For those persons who have had the expiration date of their operators' licenses or state identification cards extended, the department shall note such extended expiration date on its computerized records. This subsection does not apply to an operator's license or state identification card issued to a person less than twenty-one years of age.

Sec. 8. Section 60-494, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-494. (1) Each operator's license and state identification card shall ~~provide anatomical gift information regarding the licensee or cardholder. The location of the information on the license or card shall be determined by the Department of Motor Vehicles. A~~ include a special notification shall be included on the front of the license or card if the licensee or cardholder desires to make an anatomical gift. The information shall include the following items to be completed by the licensee or cardholder if he or she desires to make an anatomical gift:

~~(a) A suitable notation indicating that the licensee or cardholder is a potential donor;~~

~~(b) A designation as to which body organs or tissues may be donated;~~

~~(c) A dated signature of the licensee or cardholder;~~

~~(d) The signatures of two witnesses who witnessed the signature of the licensee or cardholder; and~~

~~(e) Such other information as the director may determine.~~

(2) The gift shall be renewed upon renewal of each license or card only if the licensee or cardholder, at the time of renewal, ~~complies with the requirements of subsection (1) of this section~~ indicates the desire to renew the gift.

(3) No licensee or cardholder shall be deemed to have authorized an anatomical gift if the notation authorized in subsection (1) of this section has not been marked.

(4) Any person whose operator's license or state identification card indicates that he or she desires to make an anatomical gift may obtain a replacement license or card changing his or her status to that of a nondonor. The fee for such replacement license or card shall be the fee ~~charged for obtaining a duplicate license or card as provided in section 60-4,120~~ 60-4,115.

Sec. 9. Section 60-4,113, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-4,113. In and for each county in the State of Nebraska, the director shall appoint as his or her agents one or more examiners who shall examine all applicants for an operator's license as provided in section 60-4,114 except as otherwise provided in subsection (8) of section 60-4,122. ~~The director and~~ may, in his or her discretion, also appoint one or more examining officers with similar powers as are set forth in ~~such~~ section 60-4,114. The same examiner may be assigned to one or more counties by the director. Each county shall furnish office space for the administration of the operator's license examination. The examiner shall actually conduct the examination of applicants and deliver to each successful applicant a certificate entitling such applicant to secure an operator's license. If the examiner refuses to issue such certificate for cause, he or she shall state such cause in writing and deliver the same to the applicant. The successful applicant shall, within ninety days, present his or her certificate to the county treasurer who shall immediately issue the operator's license and collect the fee therefor. The certificate shall be presented in the applicant's county of residence until the Department of Motor Vehicles has established the appropriate procedures for the certificate to be presented to the county treasurer of any county which shall be not later than January 1, 2003. The county treasurer shall report the issuance of such licenses to the Department of Motor Vehicles within five days after issuance.

Sec. 10. Section 60-4,114, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-4,114. (1) The county treasurer may employ such additional clerical help as may be necessary to assist him or her in the performance of the ministerial duties required of him or her under the Motor Vehicle Operator's License Act and, for such additional expense, shall be reimbursed as set out in section 60-4,115.

(2) The director may, in his or her discretion, appoint one or more examining officers who shall personally examine all applicants who apply for an initial license or whose licenses have been revoked, canceled, or suspended to ascertain such person's ability to operate a motor vehicle properly and safely.

(3) Except as otherwise provided in section 60-4,122, the ~~The~~ application process, in addition to the other requisites of the act, shall include the following:

(a) An inquiry into the medical condition and visual ability of the applicant to operate a motor vehicle;

(b) An inquiry into the applicant's ability to drive and maneuver a motor vehicle;

(c) An inquiry touching upon the applicant's knowledge of the motor vehicle laws of this state, which shall include sufficient questions to indicate familiarity with the provisions thereof; and

(d) An inquiry into the applicant's knowledge of the laws for operating a motor vehicle to avoid arrest.

(4) If an applicant is denied or refused a certificate for license by the examiners, such applicant shall have the right to an immediate appeal to the director from the decision of such examiners. It shall be the duty of the director to review the appeal and issue a final order, to be made not later than ten days after the receipt of the appeal by the director, except that if the director requests the advice of the Health Advisory Board on the matter, the director shall have up to forty-five days after the day a medical or vision problem is referred to him or her to consult with members of the board to obtain the medical opinion necessary to make a decision and shall issue a final order not later than ten days following receipt of the medical opinion. After consideration of the advice of the board, the director shall

make a determination of the applicant's physical or mental ability to operate a motor vehicle and shall issue a final order. The order shall be in writing, shall be accompanied by findings of fact and conclusions of law, and shall be sent by registered or certified mail to the applicant's last-known address. The order may be appealed as provided in section 60-4,105.

Sec. 11. Section 60-4,115, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-4,115. (1) Fees for operator's licenses and state identification cards shall be collected and distributed according to the table in subsection (2) of this section until the implementation date prescribed by the director in section 3 of this act, and beginning on such date, such fees shall be collected and distributed according to the table in subsection (3) of this section. County officials shall remit the county portion of the fees collected to the county treasurer for placement in the county general fund. All other fees collected shall be remitted to the State Treasurer for credit to the appropriate fund. The State Treasurer shall transfer an amount equal to three dollars and fifty cents times the number of original or renewal Class M licenses issued pursuant to section 60-4,127 during the previous year from the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund to the Motorcycle Safety Education Fund.

(2) The fees provided in this subsection in the following dollar amounts shall apply until the implementation date prescribed by the director in section 3 of this act.

<u>Document</u>	<u>Total Fee</u>	<u>County General Fund</u>	<u>Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund</u>	<u>State General Fund</u>
<u>State identification card:</u>				
<u>Valid for 1 year or less</u>	<u>3.75</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>1.00</u>
<u>Valid for more than 1 year but not more than 2 years</u>	<u>7.50</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>1.50</u>	<u>3.25</u>
<u>Valid for more than 2 years but not more than 3 years</u>	<u>11.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>2.50</u>	<u>6.00</u>
<u>Valid for more than 3 years but not more than 4 years</u>	<u>15.00</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>4.00</u>	<u>8.25</u>
<u>Valid for more than 4 years for person under 21</u>	<u>18.75</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>4.00</u>	<u>12.00</u>
<u>Valid for 5 years</u>	<u>18.75</u>	<u>3.50</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>10.25</u>
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	<u>6.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>1.25</u>	<u>2.25</u>
<u>Class O or M operator's license:</u>				
<u>Valid for 1 year or less</u>	<u>3.75</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>1.00</u>
<u>Valid for more than 1 year but not more than 2 years</u>	<u>7.50</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>1.50</u>	<u>3.25</u>
<u>Valid for more than 2 years but not more than 3 years</u>	<u>11.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>2.50</u>	<u>6.00</u>
<u>Valid for more than 3 years but not more than 4 years</u>	<u>15.00</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>4.00</u>	<u>8.25</u>
<u>Valid for more than 4 years for person under 21</u>	<u>18.75</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>4.00</u>	<u>12.00</u>
<u>Valid for 5 years</u>	<u>18.75</u>	<u>3.50</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>10.25</u>
<u>Bioptic or telescopic lens restriction</u>	<u>3.75</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>1.00</u>
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	<u>6.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>1.25</u>	<u>2.25</u>
<u>Provisional operator's permit:</u>				
<u>Original</u>	<u>10.00</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>7.25</u>	<u>0</u>
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	<u>6.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>1.25</u>	<u>2.25</u>
<u>LPD-learner's permit:</u>				
<u>Original</u>	<u>3.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>2.75</u>
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	<u>6.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>1.25</u>	<u>2.25</u>
<u>LPE-learner's permit:</u>				
<u>Original</u>	<u>3.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>2.75</u>
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	<u>6.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>1.25</u>	<u>2.25</u>
<u>School permit:</u>				
<u>Original</u>	<u>3.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>2.75</u>
<u>Duplicate</u>	<u>6.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>1.25</u>	<u>2.25</u>
<u>Farm permit:</u>				
<u>Original or renewal</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>4.75</u>
<u>Duplicate</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>4.75</u>
<u>Temporary</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>4.75</u>
<u>Driving permits:</u>				
<u>Employment</u>	<u>40.00</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>40.00</u>
<u>Medical hardship</u>	<u>40.00</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>40.00</u>

<u>Commercial driver's license:</u>				
<u>Valid for 1 year or less</u>	<u>14.00</u>	<u>1.75</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>12.25</u>
<u>Valid for more than 1 year</u>				
<u>but not more than 2 years</u>	<u>22.00</u>	<u>1.75</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>20.25</u>
<u>Valid for more than 2 years</u>				
<u>but not more than 3 years</u>	<u>32.00</u>	<u>1.75</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>30.25</u>
<u>Valid for more than 3 years</u>				
<u>but not more than 4 years</u>	<u>40.00</u>	<u>1.75</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>38.25</u>
<u>Valid for more than 4 years</u>				
<u>for person under 21</u>	<u>50.00</u>	<u>1.75</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>48.25</u>
<u>Valid for 5 years</u>	<u>50.00</u>	<u>1.75</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>48.25</u>
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	<u>6.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>1.25</u>	<u>2.25</u>
<u>Change of class, endorsement,</u>				
<u>or restriction</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>1.75</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>3.25</u>
<u>LPC-learner's permit:</u>				
<u>Original or renewal</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>4.75</u>
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>4.75</u>
<u>Change of class, endorsement,</u>				
<u>or restriction</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>4.75</u>
<u>Seasonal permit:</u>				
<u>Original or renewal</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>4.75</u>
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>4.75</u>
<u>Change of class, endorsement,</u>				
<u>or restriction</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>4.75</u>

(3) The fees provided in this subsection in the following dollar amounts shall apply beginning on the implementation date prescribed by the director in section 3 of this act.

<u>Document</u>	<u>Total Fee</u>	<u>Department</u>		
		<u>County General Fund</u>	<u>of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund</u>	<u>State General Fund</u>
<u>State identification card:</u>				
<u>Valid for 1 year or less</u>	<u>4.75</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>1.00</u>	<u>1.00</u>
<u>Valid for more than 1 year</u>				
<u>but not more than 2 years</u>	<u>9.50</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>3.50</u>	<u>3.25</u>
<u>Valid for more than 2 years</u>				
<u>but not more than 3 years</u>	<u>14.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>5.50</u>	<u>6.00</u>
<u>Valid for more than 3 years</u>				
<u>but not more than 4 years</u>	<u>19.00</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>8.00</u>	<u>8.25</u>
<u>Valid for more than 4 years</u>				
<u>for person under 21</u>	<u>23.75</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>10.00</u>	<u>11.00</u>
<u>Valid for 5 years</u>	<u>23.75</u>	<u>3.50</u>	<u>10.00</u>	<u>10.25</u>
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	<u>11.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>6.25</u>	<u>2.25</u>
<u>Class O or M operator's license:</u>				
<u>Valid for 1 year or less</u>	<u>4.75</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>1.00</u>	<u>1.00</u>
<u>Valid for more than 1 year</u>				
<u>but not more than 2 years</u>	<u>9.50</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>3.50</u>	<u>3.25</u>
<u>Valid for more than 2 years</u>				
<u>but not more than 3 years</u>	<u>14.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>5.50</u>	<u>6.00</u>
<u>Valid for more than 3 years</u>				
<u>but not more than 4 years</u>	<u>19.00</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>8.00</u>	<u>8.25</u>
<u>Valid for 5 years</u>	<u>23.75</u>	<u>3.50</u>	<u>10.00</u>	<u>10.25</u>
<u>Bioptic or telescopic lens restriction</u>	<u>4.75</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>4.75</u>	<u>0</u>
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	<u>11.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>6.25</u>	<u>2.25</u>
<u>Change of class or restriction</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>0</u>
<u>Provisional operator's permit:</u>				
<u>Original</u>	<u>15.00</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>12.25</u>	<u>0</u>
<u>Bioptic or telescopic lens restriction</u>	<u>4.75</u>	<u>0</u>	<u>4.75</u>	<u>0</u>
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	<u>11.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>6.25</u>	<u>2.25</u>
<u>LPD-learner's permit:</u>				
<u>Original</u>	<u>8.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>2.75</u>
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	<u>11.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>6.25</u>	<u>2.25</u>
<u>LPE-learner's permit:</u>				
<u>Original</u>	<u>8.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>2.75</u>
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	<u>11.25</u>	<u>2.75</u>	<u>6.25</u>	<u>2.25</u>
<u>School permit:</u>				
<u>Original</u>	<u>8.00</u>	<u>.25</u>	<u>5.00</u>	<u>2.75</u>

<u>Duplicate</u>	11.25	2.75	6.25	2.25
<u>Farm permit:</u>				
<u>Original or renewal</u>	5.00	.25	0	4.75
<u>Duplicate</u>	5.00	.25	0	4.75
<u>Temporary</u>	5.00	.25	0	4.75
<u>Driving permits:</u>				
<u>Employment</u>	45.00	0	5.00	40.00
<u>Medical hardship</u>	45.00	0	5.00	40.00
<u>Commercial driver's license:</u>				
<u>Valid for 1 year or less</u>	11.00	1.75	5.00	4.25
<u>Valid for more than 1 year</u> <u>but not more than 2 years</u>	22.00	1.75	5.00	15.25
<u>Valid for more than 2 years</u> <u>but not more than 3 years</u>	33.00	1.75	5.00	26.25
<u>Valid for more than 3 years</u> <u>but not more than 4 years</u>	44.00	1.75	5.00	37.25
<u>Valid for 5 years</u>	55.00	1.75	5.00	48.25
<u>Bioptic or telescopic</u> <u>lens restriction</u>	11.00	1.75	5.00	4.25
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	11.25	2.75	6.25	2.25
<u>Change of class, endorsement,</u> <u>or restriction</u>	10.00	1.75	5.00	3.25
<u>LPC-learner's permit:</u>				
<u>Original or renewal</u>	10.00	.25	5.00	4.75
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	10.00	.25	5.00	4.75
<u>Change of class, endorsement,</u> <u>or restriction</u>	10.00	.25	5.00	4.75
<u>Seasonal permit:</u>				
<u>Original or renewal</u>	10.00	.25	5.00	4.75
<u>Duplicate or replacement</u>	10.00	.25	5.00	4.75
<u>Change of class, endorsement,</u> <u>or restriction</u>	10.00	.25	5.00	4.75

(4) Beginning on the implementation date prescribed by the director in section 3 of this act, if the Department of Motor Vehicles issues an operator's license or a state identification card, the department shall remit the county portion of the fees to the State Treasurer for credit to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund. The applications or examiners' certificates for operators' licenses, school permits, farm permits, LPD-learners' permits, or LPE-learners' permits shall be filed with the county treasurer who is required to transmit them weekly to the director.

(2) Except as provided in subsection (3) or (4) of this section, a fee of eighteen dollars and seventy-five cents shall be charged to each successful applicant for an original or renewal Class O or M operator's license issued under the Motor Vehicle Operator's License Act. Three dollars and fifty cents of each of the original and renewal fees for operators' licenses and twenty-five cents of each of the fees for school permits, farm permits, LPD-learners' permits, or LPE-learners' permits shall be credited immediately to the general fund of the county of issuance and shall be included by the county treasurer in his or her report of fees as provided by law. The county treasurer shall remit five dollars of each of the original and renewal fees for Class O or M operator's licenses to the State Treasurer for credit to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund. An amount equal to three dollars and fifty cents times the number of original or renewal Class M licenses issued pursuant to section 60-4,127 during the previous year shall be transferred to the Motorcycle Safety Education Fund. The balance of the original and renewal operator's license, school permit, farm permit, LPD-learner's permit, or LPE-learner's permit fees shall be remitted by the county treasurer to the State Treasurer and shall be credited to the General Fund.

(3) A fee of three dollars and seventy-five cents shall be charged to each successful applicant for an operator's license issued to persons required to use bioptic or telescopic lenses as provided in section 60-4,118. Two dollars and seventy-five cents of such fee shall be credited to the general fund of the county of issuance. The county treasurer shall remit the remainder of the fee to the State Treasurer for credit to the General Fund.

(4) An application for an operator's license for a person under twenty-one years of age shall be accompanied by a fee of eighteen dollars and seventy-five cents from a successful applicant for an original or renewal Class O or M operator's license issued under the act, except that the fee for a license which will be valid for one year or less shall be three dollars and seventy-five cents, the fee for a license which will be valid for more than one year but not more than two years shall be seven dollars and fifty cents,



the fee for a license which will be valid for three years or less but more than two years shall be eleven dollars and twenty-five cents, and the fee for a license which will be valid for four years or less but more than three years shall be fifteen dollars. Two dollars and seventy-five cents of the original and renewal fee for such operator's license shall be credited immediately to the general fund of the county of issuance and shall be included by the county treasurer in his or her report of fees as provided by law. The county treasurer shall remit four dollars of the original and renewal fee for such operator's license to the State Treasurer for credit to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund, except that for a license which is valid for one year or less, none of the fee shall be credited to the fund, for a license which is valid for more than one year but not more than two years, one dollar and fifty cents of the fee shall be credited to the fund, and for a license which is valid for three years or less but more than two years, two dollars and fifty cents of the fee shall be credited to the fund. An amount equal to two dollars and fifty cents times the number of such original or renewal Class M licenses issued pursuant to section 60-4,127 during the previous year shall be transferred to the Motorcycle Safety Education Fund. The balance of the original and renewal operator's license fee shall be remitted by the county treasurer to the State Treasurer and shall be credited to the General Fund.

Sec. 12. Section 60-4,117, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, is amended to read:

60-4,117. (1) Upon The director shall provide each county treasurer with a sufficient number of official operator's license blanks to supply the needs of his or her county, and immediately on the presentation to the county treasurer of the certificate for an operator's license issued by the examining officer of his or her county to the applicant for such license, the county treasurer shall issue such license to the applicant. The license shall be in full force and effect until the expiration date thereon, until officially revoked or canceled by the director, or until suspended or revoked by a court of competent jurisdiction as set forth in section 60-496.

(2) The operator's license shall be in the a form of a card of a size that may be conveniently carried on the person prescribed by the Department of Motor Vehicles. Each license shall contain the following information: Name, age, place of residence, post office address, and brief personal description sufficient for identification of the licensee; the anatomical gift information specified in section 60-494; and such other facts and information, not inconsistent with the Motor Vehicle Operator's License Act, as the director may determine. The license may include security features prescribed by the department. The license shall be conspicuously marked Nebraska Operator's License, shall be, to the maximum extent practicable, tamper proof, and shall include the following information:

- (a) The name and residential and post office address of the holder;
  - (b) The holder's color photograph or digital image;
  - (c) A physical description of the holder, including sex, height, weight, and eye and hair colors;
  - (d) The holder's date of birth;
  - (e) The holder's signature;
  - (f) The class of motor vehicle which the holder is authorized to operate and any endorsements or restrictions;
  - (g) The dates between which the license is valid;
  - (h) The anatomical gift information specified in section 60-494; and
  - (i) Such other facts and information as the director may determine.
- (3) Machine-readable information encoded on an operator's license shall be limited to the information appearing on the face of the license.

Sec. 13. Section 60-4,119, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-4,119. (1) All state identification cards and operators' licenses, except farm permits and except as otherwise provided in subsection (2) of this section and section 60-4,120, school bus operators' permits, replacement and duplicate licenses as provided by subsections (3) and (4) of section 60-4,120, and licenses issued pursuant to subsection (2) of this section, shall include a color photograph or a digital image of the cardholder or licensee as provided in section 4 of this act. State identification cards and operators' licenses shall be issued by the county treasurer or the Department of Motor Vehicles. The director shall negotiate and enter into a contract to provide the necessary equipment, supplies, and forms for the photographs issuance of the licenses and cards. All costs incurred by the Department of Motor Vehicles under this section shall be paid by the state out of appropriations made to the department. All costs of taking the photographs or digital images shall be paid by the county issuer from the fees provided to the issuer pursuant to sections 60-4,115 and 60-4,181 section 60-4,115.

(2) A person who is out of the state at the time of renewal of his or her operator's license may apply for a license without a photograph upon payment of a fee as provided in section 60-4,115. The license may be issued at any time within one year after the expiration of the original license. Such application shall be made to the county treasurer of the county in which the applicant resides until such time as the ~~Department of Motor Vehicles department~~ establishes the appropriate procedures for statewide licensing at which time the application shall be made to the department and the department shall issue the license. The department shall establish such procedures not later than January 1, 2003.

(3) Any operator's license and any state identification card issued to a minor as defined in section 53-103, as such definition may be amended from time to time by the Legislature, shall be of a distinct designation, of a type prescribed by the director, from the operator's license or state identification card of a person who is not a minor. ~~When~~ Until March 31, 2003, if a person is no longer a minor, he or she may apply for a replacement license or card with the distinct designation used for persons who are not minors. The fee for such replacement license or card ~~shall be the same as the fee for a replacement license issued for a change of address pursuant to subsection (2) of section 60-4,120~~ is established in section 60-4,115.

Sec. 14. Section 60-4,120, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, is amended to read:

60-4,120. (1) Except as provided in subsection (4) of this section for persons temporarily out of the state, any person duly licensed or holding a valid state identification card issued under the Motor Vehicle Operator's License Act who loses his or her operator's license or card may obtain a duplicate upon filing with the county treasurer or the Department of Motor Vehicles an application and affidavit showing such loss and furnishing proof of identification in accordance with section 60-484. ~~Upon the officer being~~ If satisfied that the loss is genuine, the ~~officer~~ issuer shall cause to be issued, upon the payment of the fee prescribed in ~~this subsection~~ section 60-4,115, a duplicate license or card. No more than two duplicates of a license or card may be issued in this manner. Upon the issuance of any duplicate or replacement license or card, the license or card from which the duplicate or replacement is issued shall be void. ~~Prior to January 17, 1999, the fee shall be five dollars and the five-dollar fee shall be handled by the treasurers in the same manner as original or renewal fees, except that such fee in each instance shall be credited, allocated, and accounted for by the county treasurer as in the cases of original and renewal operator's license fees as provided in section 60-4,115 or original or renewal state identification card fees as provided in section 60-4,181. Beginning January 17, 1999, the fee shall be six dollars and twenty-five cents. Two dollars and seventy-five cents of the fee shall be credited to the general fund of the county and shall be included in the report of fees as required by law. One dollar and twenty-five cents of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund. The balance of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the General Fund.~~

(2)(a) If any person changes his or her name because of marriage or divorce or by court order or a common-law name change, he or she shall apply to the county treasurer for a replacement operator's license or state identification card and furnish proof of identification in accordance with section 60-484. If any person changes his or her address, the person shall apply to the county treasurer for a replacement operator's license or state identification card and furnish satisfactory evidence of such change. The application shall be made within sixty days after the change of name or address. The

~~(b)(i) Prior to January 17, 1999, such license or card shall be issued upon payment of a fee of five dollars~~ the fee prescribed in section 60-4,115.

~~(ii) Beginning January 17, 1999, such license or card shall be issued upon payment of a fee of six dollars and twenty-five cents. Two dollars and seventy-five cents of the fee shall be credited to the general fund of the county and shall be included by the county treasurer in the report of fees as required by law. One dollar and twenty-five cents of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund. The balance of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the General Fund.~~

(3)(a) In the event a mutilated and unreadable operator's license is held by any person duly licensed under the act or a mutilated and unreadable state identification card which was issued under the act is held by a person,

such person may obtain a replacement license or card upon showing the original mutilated or unreadable license or card to the county treasurer. A replacement license or card may be issued, without a photograph, to any person who is out of the state at the time of application for the replacement license or card. Such license or card shall state on its face that it shall become invalid thirty days after such person resumes residence in the state. If the county treasurer is satisfied that the license or card is mutilated or unreadable, the county treasurer shall cause to be issued, upon the payment of the fee prescribed in ~~this subsection~~ section 60-4,115, a replacement license or card.

~~(b)(i) Prior to January 1, 1999, the fee shall be five dollars and the fee shall be handled by the treasurer in the same manner as the original or renewal fee, except that the fee in each instance shall be credited, allocated, and accounted for by the county treasurer as in the cases of original and renewal operator's license fees as provided in section 60-4,115 or original or renewal state identification card fees as provided in section 60-4,181.~~

~~(ii) Beginning January 1, 1999, the fee shall be six dollars and twenty-five cents. Two dollars and seventy-five cents of the fee shall be credited to the general fund of the county and shall be included by the county treasurer in the report of fees as required by law. One dollar and twenty-five cents of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund. The balance of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the General Fund.~~

(4)(a) If any person duly licensed under the act loses his or her operator's license or if any holder of a state identification card loses his or her card while temporarily out of the state, he or she may apply for a duplicate operator's license or card without a photograph by filing with the county treasurer an application and affidavit showing such loss. Upon the officer being satisfied that the loss is genuine, the officer shall cause to be issued, upon the payment of the fee prescribed in ~~this subsection~~ section 60-4,115, a duplicate operator's license or card without a photograph. Upon the issuance of the duplicate, the original license or card shall be void.

~~(b)(i) Prior to January 1, 1999, the fee shall be five dollars.~~

~~(ii) Beginning January 1, 1999, the fee shall be six dollars and twenty-five cents. Two dollars and seventy-five cents of the fee shall be credited to the general fund of the county and shall be included by the county treasurer in the report of fees as required by law. One dollar and twenty-five cents of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund. The balance of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the General Fund.~~

(5)(a) Any person holding a valid operator's license or state identification card without a photograph shall surrender such license or card to the treasurer of his or her county of residence within thirty days ~~of~~ after resuming residency in this state. After the thirty-day period, such license or card shall be considered invalid. Upon the timely surrender of the license or card and payment of the fee prescribed in ~~this subsection~~ section 60-4,115, such person shall be issued an operator's license or card with a color photograph or digital image of the licensee included.

~~(b)(i) Prior to January 1, 1999, the fee shall be five dollars.~~

~~(ii) Beginning January 1, 1999, the fee shall be six dollars and twenty-five cents. Two dollars and seventy-five cents of the fee shall be credited to the general fund of the county and shall be included by the county treasurer in the report of fees as required by law. One dollar and twenty-five cents of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund. The balance of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the General Fund.~~

(6) An application form for a replacement or duplicate operator's license or state identification card shall include a voter registration portion pursuant to section 32-308 and the following specific question: Do you wish to register to vote as part of this application process?

(7) Beginning August 1, 1998, for those persons who have had the expiration date of their operators' licenses or state identification cards extended, the county treasurer may issue extended operators' licenses and state identification cards with the extended date printed on them. Such extended operators' licenses and state identification cards shall be issued if a person files an application with the county for an extended replacement license or state identification card or files an application with the county and an affidavit showing a loss of an operator's license or state

identification card for an extended duplicate operator's license or state identification card, whichever application is appropriate. A fee of six dollars and twenty-five cents shall be charged. Three dollars of the fee shall be credited to the general fund of the county and shall be included by the county treasurer in the report of fees as required by law. One dollar and twenty-five cents of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund. The balance of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the General Fund. This subsection terminates on January 1, 2003.

(8) Beginning on the implementation date designated pursuant to section 3 of this act, an applicant may obtain a replacement or duplicate operator's license or state identification card pursuant to subsection (1), (3), or (4) of this section by electronic means in a manner prescribed by the department. If the applicant has a digital image and digital signature preserved in the digital system, the replacement or duplicate shall be issued with the preserved digital image and digital signature.

Sec. 15. Section 60-4,120.01, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-4,120.01. (1) Any person who is at least sixteen years of age but less than eighteen years of age may be issued a provisional operator's permit by the Department of Motor Vehicles. The provisional operator's permit shall expire on the applicant's eighteenth birthday. The requirements for the provisional operator's permit prescribed in subdivisions (2)(a) and (b) of this section may be completed prior to the applicant's sixteenth birthday. A person may apply for a provisional operator's permit and take the driving test and the written examination, if required, at any time within sixty days prior to his or her sixteenth birthday upon proof of age in the manner provided in section 60-484.

(2) In order to obtain a provisional operator's permit, the applicant shall present to the examiner (a)(i) proof of successful completion of a department-approved driver safety course which includes behind-the-wheel driving specifically emphasizing (A) the effects of the consumption of alcohol on a person operating a motor vehicle, (B) occupant protection systems, (C) risk assessment, and (D) railroad crossing safety and (ii) proof of successful completion of a written examination and driving test administered by a driver safety course instructor or (b) an affidavit and driving log on a form prescribed by the department verifying that the applicant has completed fifty hours of lawful motor vehicle operation, under conditions that reflect department-approved driver safety course curriculum, with a parent, guardian, or adult at least twenty-one years of age, who has a current Nebraska operator's license or who is licensed in another state. If the applicant presents such an affidavit, the applicant shall be required to successfully complete a driving test administered by an examiner of the department. The written examination shall be waived if the applicant has held an LPD-learner's permit issued on or after January 1, 1999. Upon presentation to the examiner by the applicant of a form prescribed by the department showing successful completion of the driver safety course, the examiner shall waive the written examination and driving test. Upon presentation to the examiner of the affidavit and driving log, the examiner shall waive the written examination but not the driving test. Upon presentation to the examiner by the applicant of his or her school permit, the examiner shall waive the written examination and the driving test.

(3) The holder of a provisional operator's permit shall only operate a motor vehicle on the highways of this state during the period beginning at 6 a.m. and ending at 12 midnight except when he or she is en route to or from his or her residence to his or her place of employment or a school activity. The holder of a provisional operator's permit may operate a motor vehicle on the highways of this state at any hour of the day or night if accompanied by a parent, guardian, or adult at least twenty-one years of age, who has a current Nebraska operator's license or who is licensed in another state.

(4) ~~The county treasurer shall collect a fee the fee prescribed in section 60-4,115 for the issuance of each provisional operator's permit. in the amount of ten dollars. Two dollars and seventy-five cents of each fee shall be credited to the county general fund, and the remainder of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer for credit to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund.~~

Sec. 16. Section 60-4,122, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-4,122. (1) Except as otherwise provided in subsections (2), ~~and (3), and (8)~~ of this section, no original or renewal operator's license shall be issued to any person until such person has appeared before an examiner to

demonstrate his or her ability to operate a motor vehicle safely as provided in section 60-4,114.

(2) Except as otherwise provided in this section and section 60-4,127, any person who renews his or her Class O or Class M license shall appear before an examiner to demonstrate his or her ability to drive and maneuver a motor vehicle safely as provided in subdivision (3)(b) of section 60-4,114 only at the discretion of the examiner, except that a person required to use bioptic or telescopic lenses shall be required to demonstrate his or her ability to drive and maneuver a motor vehicle safely each time he or she renews his or her license.

(3) Any person who renews his or her Class O or Class M license prior to or within one year after its expiration shall not be required to demonstrate his or her knowledge of the motor vehicle laws of this state as provided in subdivision (3)(c) of section 60-4,114 if his or her driving record abstract maintained in the computerized records of the Department of Motor Vehicles shows that such person's license is not suspended, revoked, or canceled.

(4) Except for operators' licenses issued to persons required to use bioptic or telescopic lenses, any person who renews his or her operator's license which has been valid for fifteen months or less shall not be required to take any examination required under section 60-4,114.

(5) Any person who renews a state identification card shall appear before an examiner and present his or her current state identification card or shall follow the procedure for electronic renewal in subsection (9) of this section. The examining officer, upon examination of the card, may require one additional form of proof of identification described in section 60-484.

(6) A nonresident who applies for an initial operator's license in this state and who holds a valid operator's license from another state which is his or her state of residence shall not be required to demonstrate his or her knowledge of the motor vehicle laws of this state if he or she surrenders to the examiner his or her valid out-of-state operator's license.

(7) An applicant for an original operator's license shall not be required to demonstrate his or her knowledge of the motor vehicle laws of this state if he or she surrenders to the examiner his or her valid Nebraska LPD-learner's permit issued after January 1, 1999.

(8) A qualified licensee as determined by the department who is twenty-one years of age or older and less than sixty-five years of age and who has a digital image and digital signature preserved in the digital system may renew his or her Class O or Class M license once by electronic means in a manner prescribed by the department using the preserved digital image and digital signature without taking any examination required under section 60-4,114 if such renewal is prior to or within one year after the expiration of the license and if his or her driving record abstract maintained in the records of the department shows that such person's license is not suspended, revoked, or canceled. Every licensee must apply for renewal in person at least once every ten years and have a new digital image and digital signature taken.

(9) Any person who is twenty-one years of age or older and who has been issued a state identification card with a digital image and digital signature may electronically renew his or her state identification card once by electronic means in a manner prescribed by the department using the preserved digital image and digital signature.

Sec. 17. Section 60-4,123, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-4,123. (1) Any person who is at least fifteen years of age may apply for an LPD-learner's permit from the Department of Motor Vehicles. In order to obtain an LPD-learner's permit, the applicant shall successfully complete a written examination. A person may take the written examination beginning sixty days prior to his or her fifteenth birthday but shall not be issued a permit until he or she is fifteen years of age.

(2) Upon successful completion of the written examination and the payment of a fee, the applicant shall be issued an LPD-learner's permit from the county treasurer. The permit shall be valid for twelve months.

(3) The holder of an LPD-learner's permit shall only operate a motor vehicle on the highways of this state if he or she is accompanied at all times by a licensed operator who is at least twenty-one years of age and who has been licensed by this state or another state and if he or she is actually occupying the seat beside the licensed operator or, in the case of a motorcycle or moped, if he or she is within visual contact of and under the supervision of, in the case of a motorcycle, a licensed motorcycle operator or, in the case of a moped, a licensed motor vehicle operator.

(4) The county treasurer shall collect a fee of ~~three dollars~~ the

fee prescribed in section 60-4,115 for the issuance of each LPD-learner's permit.

Sec. 18. Section 60-4,124, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, is amended to read:

60-4,124. A person who is younger than sixteen years of age but is over fourteen years of age may be issued, by the county treasurer, a school permit to drive a motor vehicle, moped, or motorcycle to and from where he or she attends school by the nearest highway from his or her place of residence if such person lives a distance of one and one-half miles or more from such school and either resides outside a city of the metropolitan, primary, or first class or attends a school which is outside a city of the metropolitan, primary, or first class. A school permit shall be used for the sole purpose of transporting such person or any family member who resides with such person to attend school, except that the holder of the permit may drive under the personal supervision of his or her parents or guardian. A school permit shall not be issued until such person has appeared before an examiner to demonstrate that he or she is capable of successfully operating a motor vehicle, moped, or motorcycle and has in his or her possession an examiner's certificate authorizing the county treasurer to issue a school permit.

Any such person desiring a school permit may first obtain an LPE-learner's permit from the county treasurer, which permit shall be valid for a period of two months. An LPE-learner's permit shall not be issued until such person demonstrates that he or she has sufficient powers of eyesight to safely operate a motor vehicle, moped, or motorcycle. While holding the LPE-learner's permit, the person may operate a motor vehicle on the highways of this state if he or she has seated next to him or her a person who is a licensed operator or, in the case of a motorcycle or moped, if he or she is within visual contact of and is under the supervision of a person who, in the case of a motorcycle, is a licensed motorcycle operator or, in the case of a moped, is a licensed motor vehicle operator. Such licensed motor vehicle or motorcycle operator shall either be a parent or guardian of the holder or a person over the age of nineteen years who is authorized in writing by the holder's parent or guardian to supervise the actions of the holder in operating the vehicle.

The county treasurer shall collect ~~a fee of three dollars~~ the fee prescribed in section 60-4,115 from each successful applicant for a school or LPE-learner's permit. All school permits shall be subject to revocation under the terms of section 60-496. Any person who violates the terms of a school permit shall be guilty of an infraction and shall not be eligible for another operator's license or school, farm, LPD-learner's, or LPE-learner's permit until he or she has attained the age of sixteen years.

Sec. 19. Section 60-4,126, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, is amended to read:

60-4,126. Any person who is younger than sixteen years of age but is over thirteen years of age and resides upon a farm in this state or is fourteen years of age or older and is employed for compensation upon a farm in this state may obtain a farm permit authorizing the operation of farm tractors and other motorized implements of farm husbandry upon the highways of this state if the applicant for such farm permit furnishes to an examiner satisfactory proof of age and satisfactorily demonstrates to the examiner that he or she has knowledge of the operation of such equipment and of the rules of the road and laws respecting the operation of motor vehicles upon the highways of this state. Any person under sixteen years of age but not less than thirteen years of age may obtain a temporary permit to operate such equipment for a six-month period after presentation to the Department of Motor Vehicles of a request for the temporary permit signed by the person's parent or guardian and payment of ~~five dollars~~ the fee prescribed in section 60-4,115. After the expiration of the six-month period, it shall be unlawful for such person to operate such equipment upon the highways of this state unless he or she has been issued a farm permit under this section. The fee for an original, renewal, or duplicate farm permit shall be ~~five dollars~~ the fee prescribed in section 60-4,115. All farm permits shall be subject to revocation under the terms of section 60-496. Any person who violates the terms of a farm permit shall be guilty of an infraction and shall not be eligible for another operator's license or school, farm, LPD-learner's, or LPE-learner's permit until he or she has attained the age of sixteen years. Farm permits are not part of the digital system implemented under section 3 of this act and may not be issued or renewed electronically.

Sec. 20. Section 60-4,127, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-4,127. No person shall operate a motorcycle on the alleys or highways of the State of Nebraska until such person has obtained a Class M

license. No such license shall be issued until the applicant has appeared before an examiner and (1) satisfied the examiner that he or she meets the vision and physical requirements established under section 60-4,118 for operation of a motor vehicle and (2) successfully completed an examination, including the actual operation of a motorcycle, prescribed by the director, except that an examiner shall waive the required examination, including the actual operation of a motorcycle, if the applicant presents proof of successful completion of a motorcycle safety course under the Motorcycle Safety Education Act within the immediately preceding forty-eight months or if the driving record abstract of the applicant maintained in the computerized records of the Department of Motor Vehicles shows that the applicant has had no traffic violations as described in section 60-4,182 from the date the applicant's operator's license was last issued to the date of the abstract.

Any applicant who qualifies for a Class M license shall be issued a license for such operation by the county treasurer ~~with a color photograph included~~ as provided for the issuance of an operator's license, or if he or she is the holder of an operator's license, the county treasurer shall, upon receipt of the examiner's certificate, endorse on the license the authorization to operate a motorcycle. Fees for Class M licenses shall be ~~the same~~ as provided by section 60-4,115. ~~for operators' licenses.~~

Sec. 21. Section 60-4,130, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-4,130. (1) Application for an employment driving permit shall be made to the Department of Motor Vehicles on forms furnished for that purpose by the department. The application form shall contain such information as deemed necessary by the director to carry out this section and section 60-4,129. If the department has a digital image and digital signature of the applicant preserved in the digital system implemented under section 3 of this act, the employment driving permit, if issued, may contain such image and signature. The application form shall also include a voter registration portion pursuant to section 32-308 and the following specific question: Do you wish to register to vote as part of this application process? To be eligible for an employment driving permit, the applicant shall furnish, along with the application to the director, the following:

(a) An affidavit from the applicant's employer stating that such applicant is required to operate a motor vehicle from his or her residence to his or her place of employment and return;

(b) If such applicant requires the use of a motor vehicle during the normal course of employment, an affidavit from the applicant's employer setting forth the facts establishing such requirement;

(c) An affidavit stating that there exists no other reasonable alternative means of transportation to and from work available to the applicant; and

(d) If the applicant is self-employed, an affidavit to the department setting forth the provisions of his or her employment.

(2) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, upon making application for such permit, the applicant shall certify that he or she will attend and complete, within sixty days, a driver improvement course presented by the department or show successful completion of the driver education and training course as provided in section 60-4,183. If such course is not completed, the employment driving permit shall be surrendered to the department. If any person fails to return to the department the permit as provided in this subsection, the department shall direct any peace officer or authorized representative of the department to secure possession of the permit and to return the permit to the department. An applicant whose operator's license has been suspended pursuant to section 43-3318 is not required to fulfill such driver improvement or education and training course requirements. All applicants shall file and maintain proof of financial responsibility as required by the Motor Vehicle Safety Responsibility Act.

(3) Any person who fails to surrender a permit, as required by this section, shall be guilty of a Class IV misdemeanor.

(4) ~~A fee of forty dollars~~ The fee prescribed in section 60-4,115 shall be submitted to the department along with the application for an employment driving permit. ~~All fees collected shall be deposited in the General Fund.~~

(5) When the holder of an employment driving permit is convicted, on or after the date of issuance of the employment driving permit, of any traffic violation or of operating a motor vehicle for a purpose other than specified by such permit, the person shall not be eligible to receive another employment driving permit during that particular period of revocation. This subsection does not apply to a holder of an employment driving permit if the reason for his or her license revocation or suspension only involved a suspension under

section 43-3318 and not a revocation under any other section.

(6) Any person who feels himself or herself aggrieved because of the refusal of the director to issue the employment driving permit may appeal in the manner set forth in section 60-4,105.

Sec. 22. Section 60-4,130.02, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-4,130.02. (1) Application for a medical hardship driving permit shall be made to the Department of Motor Vehicles on forms furnished for that purpose by the department. The application form shall contain such information as deemed necessary by the director to carry out this section and section 60-4,130.01. If the department has a digital image and digital signature of the applicant preserved in the digital system implemented under section 3 of this act, the medical hardship driving permit, if issued, may contain such image and signature. The application form shall also include a voter registration portion pursuant to section 32-308 and the following specific question: Do you wish to register to vote as part of this application process? To be eligible for a medical hardship driving permit, the applicant shall furnish, along with the application to the director, the following:

(a) An affidavit from the applicant's physician stating that it is necessary for such applicant to receive medical treatment at a location other than the applicant's residence and that the treatment will not impair the applicant's ability to operate a motor vehicle; and

(b) An affidavit stating that there exists no other reasonable alternative means of transportation to and from the site of medical treatment available to the applicant.

(2) The applicant shall also be required to file and maintain proof of financial responsibility as required by the Motor Vehicle Safety Responsibility Act.

(3) ~~A fee of forty dollars~~ The fee prescribed in section 60-4,115 shall be submitted to the department along with the application for a medical hardship driving permit. ~~All fees collected shall be deposited in the General Fund.~~

(4) When the holder of a medical hardship driving permit is convicted, on or after the date of issuance of the permit, of any traffic violation or of operating a motor vehicle for a purpose other than specified by such permit, the person shall not be eligible to receive another medical hardship driving permit during that particular period of revocation.

(5) Any person who feels himself or herself aggrieved because of the refusal of the director to issue the medical hardship driving permit may appeal in the manner set forth in section 60-4,105.

Sec. 23. Section 60-4,142, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, is amended to read:

60-4,142. Any resident may obtain, on a form to be prescribed by the director, an LPC-learner's permit from the county treasurer by making application to an examiner of the Department of Motor Vehicles. An applicant shall present proof to the examiner that he or she holds a valid Class O license or commercial driver's license or shall successfully complete the requirements for the Class O license before an LPC-learner's permit is issued. The LPC-learner's permit shall be valid for a period of six months and shall be renewed only once within any two-year period. The county treasurer shall charge ~~a fee of five dollars~~ the fee prescribed in section 60-4,115 for the issuance or renewal of an LPC-learner's permit.

Sec. 24. Section 60-4,148, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-4,148. (1) All commercial drivers' licenses shall be issued by the Department of Motor Vehicles as provided in section 60-4,149. Successful applicants shall pay to the county treasurer the fee prescribed in section 60-4,115. ~~a fee of fifty dollars for an original or renewal commercial driver's license, except that the fee for a commercial driver's license issued to a minor which will be valid for one year or less shall be fourteen dollars, the fee for a commercial driver's license issued to a minor which will be valid for more than one year but less than two years shall be twenty-two dollars, the fee for a commercial driver's license issued to a minor which will be valid for two years or more but less than three years shall be thirty-two dollars, and the fee for a commercial driver's license issued to a minor that will be valid for three years or more but less than four years shall be forty dollars.~~

(2) Any person making application to add or remove a class of commercial motor vehicle, any endorsement, or any restriction to or from a previously issued and outstanding commercial driver's license shall pay ~~a fee of five dollars~~ the fee prescribed in section 60-4,115. The fee for an



original or renewal seasonal permit to revalidate the restricted commercial motor vehicle operating privilege to a previously issued and outstanding restricted commercial driver's license shall be ~~five dollars~~ the fee prescribed in section 60-4,115.

~~(3) One dollar and seventy-five cents of the fees for each original, renewal, duplicate, or replacement commercial driver's license or restricted commercial driver's license and twenty-five cents of each of the original and renewal fees for LPC-learner's permits and seasonal permits shall be credited to the general fund of the county and shall be included by the county treasurer in his or her report of fees as provided by law. The balance of such fees shall be remitted by the county treasurer to the State Treasurer for credit to the General Fund.~~

Sec. 25. Section 60-4,150, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, is amended to read:

60-4,150. (1) Any person holding a commercial driver's license who loses his or her license, who requires issuance of a replacement license because of a change of name or address, or whose license is mutilated or unreadable may obtain a duplicate or replacement commercial driver's license by filing with an examiner of the Department of Motor Vehicles an application and affidavit and by furnishing proof of identification in accordance with section 60-484.

(2) The application for a replacement license because of a change of name or address shall be made within sixty days after the change of name or address.

(3)(a) Upon the examiner being satisfied that a duplicate or replacement commercial driver's license should be issued, the applicant shall receive such license upon payment of the fee prescribed in ~~this subsection~~ section 60-4,115 to the county treasurer.

~~(b)(i) Prior to January 1, 1999, the fee for a duplicate or replacement commercial driver's license shall be five dollars.~~

~~(ii) Beginning January 1, 1999, the fee shall be six dollars and twenty-five cents. Two dollars and seventy-five cents of the fee shall be credited to the general fund of the county and shall be included by the county treasurer in the report of fees as required by law. One dollar and twenty-five cents of the fee shall be remitted by the county treasurer to the State Treasurer for credit to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund. The balance of the fee shall be remitted by the county treasurer to the State Treasurer for credit to the General Fund.~~

(4) Duplicate and replacement commercial drivers' licenses shall be issued in the manner provided for the issuance of original and renewal commercial drivers' licenses as provided for by section 60-4,149. Prior to January 1, 1999, no more than two duplicate commercial drivers' licenses shall be issued to any applicant in any four-year period. Beginning January 1, 1999, no more than two duplicate commercial drivers' licenses shall be issued to any applicant in any five-year period. Upon issuance of any duplicate or replacement commercial driver's license, the commercial driver's license for which the duplicate or replacement license is issued shall be void.

(5) Beginning August 1, 1998, for those persons who have had the expiration date of their commercial drivers' licenses extended, the county treasurer may issue extended commercial drivers' licenses with the extended date printed on them. Such extended commercial drivers' licenses shall be issued if a person files an application with the examiner for an extended replacement commercial driver's license or files an application with the examiner and an affidavit showing a loss of a commercial driver's license for an extended duplicate commercial driver's license, whichever application is appropriate, and proof of identification in accordance with section 60-484. A fee of six dollars and twenty-five cents shall be charged. Three dollars of the fee shall be credited to the general fund of the county and shall be included by the county treasurer in the report of fees as required by law. One dollar and twenty-five cents of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund. The balance of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the General Fund. This subsection terminates on January 1, 2003.

Sec. 26. Section 60-4,151, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, is amended to read:

60-4,151. (1) The commercial driver's license shall be conspicuously marked Nebraska Commercial Driver's License, shall be, to the maximum extent practicable, tamper proof, and shall include the following information:

- (a) The name and residential address of the holder;
- (b) The holder's color photograph or digital image;

(c) A physical description of the holder, including sex, height, weight, and eye and hair colors;

(d) The holder's date of birth;

(e) The holder's signature;

(f) The class of commercial motor vehicle or vehicles which the holder is authorized to operate, including any endorsements or restrictions;

(g) The dates between which the commercial driver's license is valid; and

(h) The anatomical gift information specified in section 60-494.

(2) The restricted commercial driver's license shall be conspicuously marked Nebraska Restricted Commercial Driver's License and shall be, to the maximum extent practicable, tamper and forgery proof. The restricted commercial driver's license shall contain such additional information as deemed necessary by the director.

(3) The seasonal permit shall contain such information as deemed necessary by the director but shall include the time period during which the commercial motor vehicle operating privilege is effective. The seasonal permit shall be valid only when held in conjunction with a restricted commercial driver's license.

Sec. 27. Section 60-4,171, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-4,171. (1) Following any period of revocation ordered by a court, a resident who has had a commercial driver's license revoked pursuant to section 60-4,169 may apply for a Class O or M operator's license.

(2) Any person who has had his or her commercial driver's license revoked pursuant to section 60-4,169 may, at the end of such revocation period, apply to have his or her commercial driver's license reinstated. The applicant shall (a) apply to the Department of Motor Vehicles and, ~~if the applicant is an individual, shall~~ provide his or her social security number, (b) take the commercial driver's license knowledge and driving skills examinations prescribed pursuant to section 60-4,155, (c) comply with section 60-4,145 regarding physical requirements, (d) be subject to a check of his or her driving record, (e) pay the fees specified in section ~~60-4,148~~ 60-4,115 and a ninety-five-dollar reinstatement fee, and (f) surrender any operator's license issued pursuant to subsection (1) of this section. The reinstatement fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer. The State Treasurer shall credit fifty dollars of each reinstatement fee to the General Fund and forty-five dollars of each reinstatement fee to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund.

Sec. 28. Section 60-4,180, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, is amended to read:

60-4,180. Any person who is a resident of this state may obtain a state identification card with a color photograph or digital image of the person included. State identification cards shall be issued in the manner provided in section 60-4,181. Any identification card issued under prior law prior to January 1, 1990, shall be invalid after such date.

Sec. 29. Section 60-4,181, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-4,181. (1) A state identification card shall be issued by the county treasurer after the person requesting the card (a) files an application or examiner's certificate with an examining officer, (b) furnishes two forms of proof of identification described in section 60-484, and (c) pays a fee the fee prescribed in section 60-4,115 to the county treasurer. ~~of eighteen dollars and seventy-five cents. Three dollars and fifty cents of the fee shall be credited to the general fund of the county of issuance and shall be included by the county treasurer in the report of fees as required by law. Five dollars of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer for credit to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund. The balance of the fee shall be remitted to the State Treasurer by the county treasurer and credited to the General Fund.~~ The state identification card shall contain the anatomical gift information specified in section 60-494.

(2) The application or examiner's certificate shall include the name, age, post office address, place of residence, date of birth, sex, social security number, and physical description of the applicant, the voter registration portion pursuant to section 32-308, and the following:

(a) Do you wish to register to vote as part of this application process?

(b) Do you wish to make an anatomical gift?

(c) Do you wish to receive any additional specific information regarding anatomical gifts?

(d) Do you wish to donate \$1 to promote the Organ and Tissue Donor Awareness and Education Fund? This is strictly a voluntary contribution.

If you answer "YES", you may pay the dollar in cash or simply add it to your fee payment. Funds collected will be used for statewide public information programs on organ and tissue donation.

(3) The director may summarily cancel any state identification card, and any judge or magistrate may order a state identification card canceled in a judgment of conviction, if the application or examiner's certificate for the card contains any false or fraudulent statements which were deliberately and knowingly made as to any matter material to the issuance of the card or if the application or examiner's certificate does not contain required or correct information. Any state identification card so obtained shall be void from the date of issuance. Any judgment of conviction ordering cancellation of a state identification card shall be transmitted to the director who shall cancel the card.

(4) Machine-readable information encoded on a state identification card shall be limited to the information appearing on the face of the card.

Sec. 30. (1) The Department of Motor Vehicles, the courts, or law enforcement agencies may store or compile information acquired from an operator's license or state identification card for their statutorily authorized purposes.

(2) No person having use of or access to machine-readable information encoded on an operator's license or a state identification card shall compile, store, preserve, trade, or sell such information. Violation of this subsection shall be a Class IV felony.

Sec. 31. Section 60-1515, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, is amended to read:

60-1515. (1) The Legislature hereby finds and declares that a statewide system for the collection, storage, and transfer of data on vehicle titles and registration and the cooperation of state and local government in implementing such a system is essential to the efficient operation of state and local government in vehicle titling and registration. The Legislature hereby finds and declares that the electronic issuance of operators' licenses and state identification cards using a digital system as described in section 3 of this act and the cooperation of state and local government in implementing such a system is essential to the efficient operation of state and local government in issuing operators' licenses and state identification cards.

(2) It is therefor the intent of the Legislature that the Department of Motor Vehicles shall use a portion of the fees appropriated by the Legislature to the Department of Motor Vehicles Cash Fund as follows:

(a) To pay for the cost of issuing motor vehicle titles and registrations on a system designated by the department. The costs shall include, but not be limited to, software and software maintenance, programming, processing charges, and equipment including such terminals, printers, or other devices as deemed necessary by the department after consultation with the county to support the issuance of motor vehicle titles and registrations. The costs shall not include the cost of county personnel or physical facilities provided by the counties;

(b) To furnish to the counties the certificate of registration forms specified in section 60-312. The certificate of registration form shall be prescribed by the department; and

(c) To pay for the costs of an operator's license system as specified in section 60-4,119 and section 3 of this act and designated by the department. The costs shall be limited to such terminals, printers, software, programming, and other equipment or devices as deemed necessary by the department to support the issuance of such licenses and state identification cards in the counties and by the department.

Sec. 32. Section 60-2904, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, is amended to read:

60-2904. For purposes of the Uniform Motor Vehicle Records Disclosure Act:

(1) Department means the Department of Motor Vehicles or the duly authorized agents or contractors of the department responsible to compile and maintain motor vehicle records;

(2) Disclose means to engage in any practice or conduct to make available and make known personal information contained in a motor vehicle record about a person to any other person, organization, or entity by any means of communication;

(3) Individual record means a motor vehicle record containing personal information about a designated person who is the subject of the record as identified in a request;

(4) Motor vehicle record means any record that pertains to a motor vehicle operator's or driver's license or permit, motor vehicle registration,

motor vehicle certificate of title, motorboat certificate of title, or state identification card issued by the department or any other state or local agency authorized to issue any of such forms of credentials;

(5) Person means an individual, organization, or entity;

(6) Personal information means information that identifies a person, including an individual's driver identification number, name, address excluding zip code, and telephone number, but does not include information on vehicular accidents, driving or equipment-related violations, and driver's license or registration status; and

(7) Sensitive personal information means an individual's operator's license photograph, ~~or computerized image,~~ social security number, and medical or disability information.

Sec. 33. Section 60-2912, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, is amended to read:

60-2912. (1) Any person requesting the disclosure of personal information from department records who misrepresents his or her identity or makes a false statement to the department on any application required to be submitted pursuant to the Uniform Motor Vehicle Records Disclosure Act shall be guilty of a Class IV felony.

(2) Any officer, employee, agent, or contractor of the department that knowingly discloses or knowingly permits disclosure of sensitive personal information in violation of the act shall be guilty of a Class I misdemeanor and shall be subject to removal from office or discharge in the discretion of the Governor or agency head, as appropriate.

Sec. 34. Original sections 60-462, 60-479, 60-489, 60-4,117, 60-4,120, 60-4,124, 60-4,126, 60-4,142, 60-4,150, 60-4,151, 60-4,180, 60-1515, and 60-2912, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, and sections 60-484, 60-490, 60-494, 60-4,113, 60-4,114, 60-4,115, 60-4,119, 60-4,120.01, 60-4,122, 60-4,123, 60-4,127, 60-4,130, 60-4,130.02, 60-4,148, 60-4,171, 60-4,181, and 60-2904, Revised Statutes Supplement, 2000, are repealed.